RECEIVED

Jul 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Honorable Edgar W. Dickson

Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-10-01343

Appellate Case No. 2023-001779

Andrew Pampu; Amanda Pampu; and John Pampu, Appellants,

vs.

CLAWSON FARGNOLI, LLC; Samuel R. Clawson, Jr., Esq.; Christina R. Fagnoli, Esq.; Barrett R. Brewer, Esq.; and BREWER LAW FIRM, LLC, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Thomas A. Pendarvis (SC Bar #064918)
PENDARVIS LAW OFFICES, P.C.
710 Boundary Street, Unit 1-A
Beaufort, SC 29902
Telephone: (843) 524-9500
Email: Thomas@PendarvisLaw.com

*Counsel for Appellants/Plaintiffs Andrew Pampu;

Statement of Issues

- I. Whether the trial court erred by failing to consider the well-pled fact allegations in the Pampus' Second Amended Complaint supporting the legal malpractice claims against their former lawyers stemming from an insufficient settlement in the underlying matter.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by disregarding well-pled fact allegations establishing a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, particularly where the facts alleged demonstrate breaches of loyalty and confidentiality resulting in actual losses.
- III. Whether the trial court erred by disregarding fact allegations that showed the existence of a client-lawyer relationship between Mr. Pampu and Ms. Pampu, on one hand, and the Lawyers, one the other, thereby providing the Pampus with standing to sue.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred by disregarding specific fact allegations supporting the Pampus' breach of contract claim and dismissing those claims without making any findings of fact or conclusions of law on the breach of contract claim.
- V. Whether the trial court erred by dismissing the Pampus' breach of fiduciary duty claim as "duplicative" of their legal malpractice claim.
- VI. Whether the trial court erred by deeming Mr. Dillon's expert opinions supporting the Pampus' professional negligence claims as untimely and insufficient as a matter of law.
- VII. Whether the trial court erred by failing to consider the timeliness of Mr. Dillon's expert affidavit, which was filed in accordance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-36-100(E) permitting an amended pleading with an expert affidavit to cure alleged defects.
- VIII. Whether Mr. Dillon's qualifications and expertise in Title IX matters establish the legal sufficiency of his expert opinions.
- IX. Whether the trial court erred by disregarding established South Carolina jurisprudence supporting legal malpractice claims arising from lawyers' errors during mediation and disregarding the exception to the ADR Rules on confidentiality permitting disclosure in a legal malpractice claim of otherwise confidential communications during mediation, in favor of public policy arguments supporting mediation and settlement.

Statement of the Case

On March 19, 2021, Appellants, Andrew Pampu; Amanda Pampu; and John Pampu (collectively “the Pampus”), filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County, South Carolina, asserting claims for professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract against Respondents, CLAWSON FARGNOLI, LLC; Samuel R. Clawson, Jr., Esq.; Christina R. Fargnoli, Esq.; BREWER LAW FIRM, LLC; and Barrett R. Brewer, Esq. (the individual Respondents will be referred to collectively as “the Lawyers” and the Limited Liability Company Respondents will be referred to as “the Law Firms”). The Lawyers are the attorneys and Members of the Law Firms whose errors caused financial losses to the Pampus during their representation of the Pampus in a) a federal court lawsuit against a University for violations of Title IX, the United States Constitution, and the University’s own disciplinary process arising from errors and mishandling of an investigation of an incident of Andrew Pampu’s alleged nonconsensual sex with another student and b) a state court lawsuit against the individuals and others who made false statements and gave false testimony supporting the University’s investigation.

The Pampus’ Complaint alleged facts showing the Lawyers were negligent in 1) allowing their client, Andrew Pampu, to sign a deficient handwritten settlement agreement that did not contain necessary language and terms dedicated to the University’s future treatment of Andrew Pampu’s academic records, the results of which were contrary to what the Lawyers knew were the clients’ desires and objectives, which was a key component of the Pampus’ “consideration” to settle, and without addressing multiple other issues necessary to resolve the underlying dispute with the University; 2) failing to explain to Andrew Pampu the full implication of this handwritten

settlement agreement and how the University could refer to his student records to future schools, especially medical or dental schools; and 3) in the manner in which they prosecuted the state court action, including substantial discovery deficiencies; and 4) the manner in which the Lawyers concluded the representation, including the manner in which they surrendered the materials related to their representation of the Pampus. R. 35-66; Complaint. One or more of these negligent actions or related omissions caused substantial financial losses to the Pampus, including their payment of and continuing payment of substantial legal fees to successor counsel to mitigate their damages caused by the Lawyers and frustrating the purpose of the underlying litigation. These same acts and omissions by the Lawyers form the basis for the Pampus' claim for breach of contract against the Law Firms. R. 35-66; Complaint.

After the Lawyers were discharged as counsel for the Pampus, the Lawyers acted in a manner establishing a clear and serious breach of their fiduciary duties of loyalty and confidentiality, including disclosing information related to their representation of the Pampus to counsel for the opposing parties without the Pampus' consent.

On April 30, 2021, the Pampus filed an Amended Complaint with the affidavit of Justin Dillon, Esq., an expert witness and lawyer with experience in litigating Title IX matters, which specifies at least one negligent act or omission by the Lawyers claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of his affidavit. (Amended Complaint, R. 57-87).

On May 9, 2021 and May 10, 2021, respectively, the Respondents filed their motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 12 (b)(6), SCRCF and Rule 12 (b)(1), SCRCF.

(Motions to Dismiss Amended Complaint, R. 88-91, 95-98). The Respondents' motions both asserted that because no facts were stated in the Amended Complaint supporting a claim for relief.

On June 16, 2021, the Pampus filed a Second Amended Complaint asserting claims for professional negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against the Lawyers and a breach of contract claim against the Law Firms. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, R. 109-141). The Second Amended Complaint is the operative pleading for this appeal.

On June 28, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectfully, the Respondents filed motions to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC and Rule 12(b)(1), SCRPC, asserting that the Second Amended Complaint failed to state facts sufficient to support a claim and asserting that Mr. and Ms. Pampu did not have standing to pursue any claims against the Respondents.

On March 2, 2022, a WebEx hearing on the motions to dismiss was held before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, during which the Second Amended Complaint, legal memoranda, and arguments of counsel were presented, and after which an Orders were entered on June 23, 2022 (collectively "the Orders"), granting the motions and dismissing the lawsuit. (Orders dismissing Sec. Amend. Complaint, R. 6-31).

On July 5, 2022, the Pampus timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amended Orders Dismissing the Second Amended Complaint. (Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amended Orders Dismissing Sec. Amend. Complaint, R. 277-284).

On October 23, 2023, Honorable Edgar W. Dickson entered an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amended Orders Dismissing Second Amended

Complaint. (Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amended, R. 1-2) ("the Reconsideration Order").

The Pampus' Notice of Appeal was timely filed thereafter.

Facts

On or around November 2, 2017, the Lawyers accepted the representation of the Pampus to provide legal advice, services, and representation of the Pampus in a lawsuit pending in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina (the "Federal Case") asserting Title IX and other claims against a University ("the University"); and representing the Pampus in a lawsuit pending in a lawsuit pending in the Court of Common Pleas in a County in South Carolina (the "State Case") asserting defamation, civil conspiracy, and other tort claims against individuals involved in submitting to the University false claims against Andrew Pampu, which led to a disciplinary action that was mishandled by the University. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 4 at ¶ 13, R. 113).

On or about November 2, 2017, Respondent Law Firms entered into a contract with Mr. and Mrs. Pampu to represent the Pampus in the Federal Case, the State Case, and "any other claims or causes of action arising from the facts, incidents, and allegations referenced in these lawsuits." (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 4 at ¶ 14; R. 113).

At the commencement of this representation, the Federal Case, with its Complaint filed on June 15, 2016, had been pending approximately a year and a half while the State Case, with its Complaint filed on June 15, 2017, had been pending for approximately six months. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 5 at ¶ 15; R. 114). In the Federal Case, Andrew Pampu's lawsuit against the University and several related defendants (collectively "the University Defendants") alleged

claims for violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, failing to provide Andrew Pampu with procedural due process, breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligence, promissory estoppel, and for a declaratory judgment. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 5 at ¶ 16; R. 114). The primary claims against the University Defendants in the Federal Case were premised on theories the University Defendants deprived Andrew Pampu of due process and certain protections under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 and related federal regulations during: the investigation the University Defendants undertook regarding false allegations by a female student (“Jane Doe”); the deliberating processes that the University Defendants applied to conclude that Andrew Pampu had engaged Jane Doe in nonconsensual sexual activity; and the appeals process the University Defendants applied to Andrew Pampu’s appeal. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 5 at ¶ 17; R. 114). The Federal Case and the State Case involved common facts in that both concerned the allegations by Jane Doe claiming Andrew Pampu engaged in nonconsensual sexual activity with her and the allegations by a male student, “Charles Doe,” made during the University’s investigation allegedly corroborating Jane Doe’s claims. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 5 at ¶ 18; R. 114).

Through a variety of errors and omissions by the University Defendants, in an administrative hearing conducted on February 26, 2016, Andrew Pampu was found to have engaged Jane Doe in nonconsensual sexual activities and punished with a one-semester suspension. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, pp. 5-6 at ¶ 19; R. 114-115). Thereafter, Andrew Pampu followed the University’s appeal process to appeal the incorrect administrative hearing decision. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 20; R. 115). The appeals process actually resulted in greater sanctions imposed by the University upon Andrew Pampu, including an additional year of

suspension. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 21; R. 115). On or about January 14, 2017, Charles Doe sent Andrew Pampu text messages admitting that he and Jane Doe lied regarding Jane Doe's allegations, both during the investigation of those allegations and at the hearing regarding those allegations. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 22; R. 115). Despite receiving notice of the January 2017 texts sent by Charles Doe, the University Defendants refused or failed to undertake additional action to address the content of those text messages from Charles Doe to Andrew Pampu. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 23; R. 115).

On or about June 15, 2017, the State Case was filed against Jane Doe, Charles Doe, and Richard Doe (Charles Doe's father), asserting claims for defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and civil conspiracy. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 24; R. 115). The State Case also asserted a claim for abuse of process against Jane Doe and Charles Doe based on the two strategically utilizing the University's Title IX process for an illegitimate objective, that is, to further harass, defame, retaliate against, and punish Andrew Pampu. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 24; R. 115). These three defendants will be collectively referred to as the "State Case Defendants").

By November 27, 2017, the Federal Court substituted the Lawyers for Andrew Pampu's previous counsel. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 6 at ¶ 26; R. 115). During the Lawyers' representation of the Pampus, the Lawyers drafted and, upon information and belief, disclosed to third parties an "apology letter" purportedly from Andrew Pampu to one of the State Case Defendants falsely conceding critical matters. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 7 at ¶ 27; R. 116). During the Lawyers' representation of the Pampus, the Lawyers served discovery requests tailored to personal injury claims when representing the Pampus on slander and defamation claims. (Sec.

Amend. Complaint, p. 7, ¶ 28; R. 116). During the Respondents' representation of the Pampus, the Lawyers did not provide the Pampus with copies of materials obtained during discovery. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 7 at ¶ 29; R. 116). Following extensive written discovery, the parties to the Federal Case scheduled a mediation. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 7 at ¶ 30; R. 116).

In February of 2018, the Lawyers and the Pampus received an eighty-page report from expert witness Daniel C. Swinton, Ed.D., J.D., B.A. (the "Swinton Report"), detailing a variety of errors and omissions by the University Defendants in the procedural, investigatory, and adjudicative processes the University Defendants applied regarding Jane Doe's allegations and Andrew Pampu's prosecution. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 7 at ¶ 31; R. 116). Based on the text messages from Charles Doe and the content of the Swinton Report, the Lawyers knew or should have known that Andrew Pampu's claims against the University Defendants and the claims against the State Case Defendants were meritorious and very valuable, whether settled or tried to a verdict or decision. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, pp. 7-8 at ¶¶ 32-35; R. 116-117).

Before the mediation, the Lawyers received an email from the Pampus stating their mediation goals, including:

- a. Based on the Charles Doe text messages and a lengthy and detailed report (the Swinton Report), the University vacate its findings and all related sanctions against Andrew Pampu, which by implication would have limited the University's future treatment of Andrew Pampu's academic records;
- b. The State Case remain separate and unaffected by any settlement of the Federal Case;
- c. there be no confidentiality or silencing provisions restricting sharing of the settlement terms; and
- d. Andrew Pampu's arguments regarding lack of due process afforded by the University during the investigation and adjudicatory process be buttressed by reference to the cases listed in the email.

(Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 8 at ¶ 36; R. 117).

On March 21, 2018, the Lawyers, the Pampus, and the University Defendants and their counsel participated in a mediation for the Federal Case. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 8 at ¶ 37; R. 117). After a grueling eleven (11) hour mediation, the terms that the parties allegedly came to agree upon were memorialized in a short-form “Settlement Agreement,” which the Lawyers approved and strongly urged Andrew Pampu to sign. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 8 at ¶ 38; R. 117-118). To accomplish their objective to have the Pampus agree to settle so they could get their contingent fee, the Lawyers took advantage of an opportunity when Appellant, John V. Pampu (Andrew Pampu’s Father) and Appellant, Amanda C. Pampu (Andrew Pampu’s Mother) were out of the room to forcefully urge Andrew Pampu to agree to the University’s proposed settlement terms. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, pp. 8-9 at ¶ 38; R. 117-118). Andrew Pampu (and later Andrew Pampu’s parents) conceded to the Lawyers’ pressure to settle and signed a “Settlement Agreement.” (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 9 at ¶ 38; R. 117-118).

On March 23, 2018, the Lawyers received an email from the Pampus explaining Andrew Pampu’s unawareness of the effect and import of the Settlement Agreement and the negative ramifications of the Settlement Agreement. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 9 at ¶ 40; R. 118). The Pampus explained that the Settlement Agreement conflicted with the goals explained in the March 2, 2018, email and conflicted with the goals of both the Federal Case and the State Case. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 9 at ¶ 41; R. 118). The Settlement Agreement the Lawyers convinced the Pampus to sign did not contain necessary language and terms dedicated to the University’s future treatment of Andrew Pampu’s academic records, the results of which were contrary to what the Lawyers knew or should have known were the Pampus’ desires and objectives, which was a key component of the Pampus’ “consideration” to settle, and the Settlement Agreement did not address

many other issues necessary to resolve the underlying dispute with the University. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 9 at ¶ 42; R. 118).

On March 27, 2018, the District Court entered an Order of Dismissal in the Federal Case providing the parties an opportunity to consummate the settlement and providing either side sixty (60) days to file a petition to enforce the settlement. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 10 at ¶ 46; R. 119).

On May 4, 2018, counsel for the University Defendants forwarded a proposed release to the Lawyers as per the terms of the Settlement Agreement. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 10 at ¶ 47; R. 119). That same day, the Lawyers sent the Settlement Agreement with proposed revisions back to counsel for the University Defendants. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 10 at ¶ 47; R. 119). On May 8, 2018, the Lawyers informed counsel for the University Defendants their representation of the Pampus had been terminated and that the Pampus had not yet retained new counsel. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 10 at ¶ 48; R. 119). On May 9, 2018, the Lawyers memorialized the Pampus' May 8, 2018, termination of their representation in a letter to the Pampus, with language impliedly recognized the Pampus' terminated the attorney-client relationship for cause and attempting to refute some of the bases for termination of the representation for cause. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 10 at ¶ 49; R. 119). On May 10, 2018, counsel for the University Defendants sent Andrew Pampu a letter with a five (5) day deadline for response enclosing a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release ("Release"), a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice, and a copy of the settlement check, which would be provided upon execution of the Release and the Stipulation of Dismissal. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, pp. 10-11 at ¶ 50; R. 119-120).

On May 11, 2018, Andrew Pampu emailed counsel for the University Defendants indicating he had received the May 8, 2018 letter, he wanted to make changes to the proposed Release, he was retaining new counsel, the five (5) day deadline was not feasible, and his new attorneys would be in contact early the following week. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 51; R. 120). On May 16, 2018, newly retained counsel (“Successor Counsel”) for the Pampus contacted counsel for the University Defendants requesting the proposed Release document in Word format to make revisions. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 52; R. 120). On May 18, 2018, upon consent motion, a text order was entered by the Federal Court this Court substituting Successor Counsel for the Lawyers as counsel of record for Andrew Pampu. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 53; R. 120). On May 23, 2018, Successor Counsel submitted revisions to the Release to counsel for the University Defendants. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 54; R. 120).

On May 24, 2018, counsel for the University Defendants contended that the revisions materially changed the terms of the Settlement Agreement reached in mediation and in response, the University Defendants moved the Federal Court to enforce the Settlement Agreement. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 55; R. 120). Thereafter, the Pampus expended substantial funds by way of legal fees and expenses in the Federal Case attempting to void the Settlement Agreement the Lawyers had directed Andrew Pampu to sign and oppose its enforcement because of the Lawyers’ errors and omissions. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, p. 11 at ¶ 56; R. 120).

The Federal Court’s “Redacted Order” upheld and enforced the Settlement Agreement against Andrew Pampu, finding the Settlement Agreement terms were clear and unambiguous; and the plain and unambiguous language of the Settlement Agreement did not support the Pampus’ representations the University promised more during the settlement negotiations. (Sec. Amend.

Complaint, p. 12 at ¶ 57; R. 121).

The Settlement Agreement:

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