**RECEIVED**

**Jul 10 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2021-CP-10-01343

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001779

Andrew Pampu; Amanda Pampu; and John Pampu, ..... Appellants

v.

Clawson Fagnoli, LLC; Samuel R. Clawson, Jr., Esq.; Christina R. Fagnoli, Esq.; Barrett R. Brewer, Esq.; and Brewer Law Firm, LLC..... Respondents

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

**

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

Andrew Pampu's position in the Federal Lawsuit and/or State Lawsuit was damaged due to the assertion of the lien, the Second Amended Complaint lacks proper allegations demonstrating proximate cause for such harm." [Order Granting Brewer Motion to Dismiss, R. pp. 10-11; Order Granting Clawson Fagnoli Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 24]. Therefore, the trial court correctly dismissed Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claim, and this Court should affirm that ruling.

**V. The trial court correctly held that Appellant John Pampu and Appellant Amanda Pampu lack standing.**

The trial court correctly held that Appellant John Pampu and Appellant Amanda Pampu ("the Pampu Parents") lack standing.

Appellants argue that the trial court ignored allegations establishing a client-lawyer relationship between the Pampu Parents and Respondents related to the Federal Case and the State Case. [Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 24]. Specifically, Appellants point to several paragraphs in their Second Amended Complaint generally alleging that Respondents represented "the [Pampus]" in the Federal Case and caused financial losses to "the [Pampus]." [Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 24-25]. The trial court held that "because Andrew Pampu was the only named party in either lawsuit and the only party to sign the settlement agreement, only he has standing to assert the alleged claims." [Order Granting Brewer Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 11; Order Granting Clawson Fagnoli Motion to Dismiss, R. p. 24].

Appellants contend that the trial court erred because "[t]he existence of a client-lawyer relationship is not dependent on whether the client is a party to a lawsuit or later becomes a party to a lawsuit." [Appellants' Initial Brief, p. 25]. However, regardless of whether the Pampu Parents and Respondents had an attorney-client relationship, they lack standing to assert the claims they allege, as they had no legal interest in the State Case or the Federal Case. As discussed above, in support of their legal malpractice claim, Appellants allege that Respondents were negligent in

(1) allowing Appellant Andrew Pampu to sign the settlement agreement, (2) failing to explain to Appellant Andrew Pampu the full implications of signing the settlement agreement, (3) the manner in which they prosecuted the State Case, and (4) the manner in which they concluded the representation. [Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 110-11, ¶ 1]. Further, in support of their breach of fiduciary duty claim, Appellants generally allege that (1) after the conclusion of the representation, Respondents disclosed information related to the representation to counsel for the opposing parties without Appellants' consent, (2) Respondents sent a letter to the mediator and counsel for all parties in the State Case and other third parties asserting a lien on any settlement proceeds, and (3) Appellants' successor counsel sent a letter to Respondents stating that the lien letter interfered with the mediation process, disrupted negotiations, and disadvantaged Appellant Andrew Pampu's position in the mediation, which caused damages to Mr. Pampu. [Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 111, 121-22, ¶¶ 2, 61-62]. Finally, in support of their breach of contract claim, Appellants allege that Respondents "entered into a Contract with the [Pampus] agreeing and contracting to provide legal services to represent the [Pampus] in the Federal Case, the State Case, and 'any other claims or causes of action arising from the facts, incidents, and allegations referenced in these lawsuits'" and that Respondents breached this agreement by "failing to provide such services." [Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 128-29, ¶¶ 98-99]. In sum, the damages Appellants allege resulted from all their causes of action are a loss of settlement value in the Federal Case and a disadvantaged position in the State Case. Because the Pampu Parents were not parties to either case and had no legal interest in either case, they cannot reasonably claim that they were somehow damaged by any loss of settlement value in the Federal Case or disadvantaged position in the State Case.

Further, to the extent that the trial court erred in holding that the Pampu Parents lacked standing to assert their claims, such error was harmless, as those claims still fail as a matter of law for the reasons discussed herein. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's holding. *See Judy v. Judy*, 384 S.C. 634, 646, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”).

**VI. The trial court correctly held that Appellants failed to state a claim for breach of contract.**

The trial court correctly held that Appellants failed to state a claim for breach of contract. “The elements for a breach of contract are the existence of a contract, its breach, and damages caused by such breach.” *Johnson v. Little*, 426 S.C. 423, 428, 827 S.E.2d 207, 210 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 650, 780 S.E.2d 263, 271 (Ct. App. 2015)).

Appellants argue that the trial court “summarily dismissed the Pampus’ claims for breach of contract without making or identifying any findings of fact or specific conclusions of law.” [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 25]. Appellants further argue that the trial court failed to consider their allegations purportedly establishing a contractual relationship between the Pampu Parents and Respondents to provide legal services related to the Federal Case and the State Case. [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 26]. Specifically, Appellants point to paragraphs 14 and 98 through 101 of their Second Amended Complaint, which generally allege that Respondents entered a contract with Appellants to provide legal services related to the Federal Case and the State Case and that Respondents breached this agreement by failing to provide such services. [Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 113, 128-29, ¶¶ 14, 98-101]. Appellants contend that these allegations establish that the Pampu Parents have standing to assert the breach of contract claim. [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 26].

While the orders granting Respondents’ motions to dismiss did not explicitly address Appellants’ breach of contract claim, the trial court correctly dismissed the claim. Appellants’ breach of contract claim fails for the same reasons that their legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty claims fail—namely, because Appellants failed to articulate in their Second Amended Complaint how Respondents allegedly breached any agreement (other than a conclusory allegation that Respondents “fail[ed] to provide such services,” which is clearly not the case) or how any alleged breach proximately caused damages to Appellants (and in particular, the Pampu Parents). Moreover, Appellants’ breach of contract claim is simply a recharacterization of their legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty claims and is, therefore, duplicative of those claims. *See, e.g., Gen. Sec. Ins. Co. v. Jordan, Coyne & Savits, LLP*, 357 F. Supp. 2d 951, 961 (E.D. Va. 2005) (holding that because the plaintiffs’ legal malpractice claim was barred, their breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract claims were also barred because “they are mere disguises for plaintiffs’ legal malpractice claims,” as “[t]he breach alleged in both the breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty claims is the same failure to provide adequate legal services that is the crux of the legal malpractice claims.”). Accordingly, the trial court properly dismissed this claim.<sup>10</sup>

The trial court correctly dismissed Appellants’ breach of contract claim. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling as to Appellants’ breach of contract claim.

**VII. The trial court correctly held that Appellants’ breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative of their legal malpractice claim.**

The trial court correctly held that Appellants’ breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative of their legal malpractice claim.

---

<sup>10</sup> To the extent that the trial court erred by not explicitly addressing Appellants’ breach of contract claim in the orders granting Respondents’ motions to dismiss, such error was harmless. *See Judy*, 384 S.C. at 646, 682 S.E.2d at 842.

Appellants argue that they should be able to pursue both claims pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a), which provides that “[r]elief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded.” [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 27; S.C. R. Civ. P. 8(a)]. Appellants further argue that the trial court’s reliance on *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.* and *Gibson v. Epting* do not support its ruling, as those cases dealt with a motion made at later stages in litigation. [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 27 (citing *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. 322, 732 S.E.2d 166 (2012); and *Gibson*, 426 S.C. 346, 827 S.E.2d 178 (Ct. App. 2019))].

In *RFT Management Co.*, RFT sued its former attorney and his law firm based on their representation of RFT in a transaction involving two real estate investment properties. 399 S.C. at 327, 732 S.E.2d at 168. RFT alleged multiple claims against the respondents, including legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.* At trial, at the close of evidence, the trial court merged RFT’s breach of fiduciary duty claim into its legal malpractice claim and granted the respondents’ motion for a directed verdict as to RFT’s other claims; therefore, only the legal malpractice claim went to the jury. *Id.*, 399 S.C. at 330, 732 S.E.2d at 170. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the respondents, and the trial court denied RFT’s post-trial motions. *Id.* On appeal, RFT argued, in part, that the trial court erred in “failing to charge the jury on breach of fiduciary duty and merging this cause of action with its first cause of action for legal malpractice.” *Id.* In affirming the trial court’s decision to merge the two causes of action, the Supreme Court of South Carolina explained:

A claim for breach of fiduciary duty, as a general matter, is distinguishable from a claim for legal malpractice because it can arise in contexts other than one involving an attorney-client relationship. . . . In the current matter, however, RFT’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty arose out of the duty inherent in the attorney-client relationship and it arose out of the same factual allegations. Thus, RFT’s claim for legal malpractice necessarily encompassed a breach of the fiduciary duty an attorney has to his or her client. . . . Although RFT now argues a breach of fiduciary claim *could* be distinguishable from legal malpractice, RFT does not set forth any specific facts that demonstrate its breach of fiduciary duty claim *is* distinguishable because it arises out of a duty *other than* one created by the attorney-client

relationship or because it is based on different material facts. Consequently, we hold the breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative.

*Id.*, 399 S.C. at 336–37, 732 S.E.2d at 173 (internal citation omitted) (emphasis in original).

Similarly, in *Gibson*, the appellants (an individual and several of her companies) sued the respondents (several attorneys and their respective law firms) for multiple claims, including legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty, related to the attorneys’ representation of them in a real estate matter. 426 S.C. at 350, 827 S.E.2d at 180. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the respondents. *Id.* In affirming the trial court’s decision, this Court noted, “[Appellant] asserts Respondents breached their fiduciary duty to her in numerous ways, all of which duplicate her legal malpractice claim because the duties arose out of the attorney-client relationship and she alleges the same facts as to both claims. . . . Accordingly, we only address [Appellant’s] claim for legal malpractice.” *Id.*, 426 S.C. at 353, 827 S.E.2d at 182 (citing *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 336–37, 732 S.E.2d at 173).

Here, Appellants allege that Respondents breached the fiduciary duties of confidentiality and loyalty. [See Second Amended Complaint, pp. 18-19, ¶¶ 87-96]. Those duties are inherent in the attorney-client relationship. Moreover, Appellants’ breach of fiduciary duty claim is premised on the same factual allegations as their legal malpractice claim. [See Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 125-28, ¶¶ 79-96]. Therefore, Appellants’ claim for legal malpractice necessarily encompasses an alleged breach of the fiduciary duty that attorneys have to their clients. See *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 336–37, 732 S.E.2d at 173; and *Gibson*, 426 S.C. at 353, 827 S.E.2d at 182. Therefore, Appellants’ breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative, and the trial court’s reliance on *RFT Management Co.* and *Gibson* was not in error.

Instead, Appellants contend that *Smith v. Hastie* is more applicable to the present case. [Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 27 (citing *Smith*, 367 S.C. 410, 626 S.E.2d 13 (Ct. App. 2005))].

There, Smith sued her former attorney for several claims, including breach of fiduciary duty and professional negligence, arising from the attorney's creation of a family limited partnership for the appellant and her family. *Smith*, 367 S.C. at 413, 626 S.E.2d at 14. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the lawyer and dismissed all of Smith's claims with prejudice, holding that "(1) Smith failed to commence her lawsuit within the applicable limitations period; (2) Smith's malpractice claims failed for lack of evidence; and (3) Smith's claims were barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel." *Id.*, 367 S.C. at 415, 626 S.E.2d at 16. While this Court disagreed with the trial court's grant of summary judgment on Smith's claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty, the opinion contains no discussion about duplicity or merger of these claims, as that was not an issue before this Court. *See id.*, 367 S.C. at 417–21, 626 S.E.2d at 16–18. Accordingly, *Smith* is not relevant in determining whether the trial court here erred in holding that Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative of their legal malpractice claim. For the reasons discussed above, it did not.<sup>11</sup>

The trial court correctly dismissed Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claim. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling as to Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claim.

**VIII. The trial court correctly held that the affidavit of Justin Dillon was both untimely and insufficient as a matter of law.**

The trial court correctly held that the affidavit of Justin Dillon was both untimely and insufficient as a matter of law. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100, the plaintiff in a professional negligence action "must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness

---

<sup>11</sup> To the extent that the trial court did err in holding that Appellants' breach of fiduciary duty claim is duplicative of their legal malpractice claim, such error is harmless, as Appellants failed to state a claim for either cause of action for the reasons discussed herein. *See Judy*, 384 S.C. at 646, 682 S.E.2d at 842.

which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(B).

**A. Timeliness**

The trial court correctly held that the affidavit of Justin Dillon was untimely as a matter of law. “If a plaintiff fails to file an affidavit as required by [§ 15-36-100], and the defendant raises the failure to file an affidavit by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading, the complaint is not subject to renewal after the expiration of the applicable period of limitation unless a court determines that the plaintiff had the requisite affidavit within the time required pursuant to this section and the failure to file the affidavit is the result of a mistake.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(F).

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